
AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING HOLDINGS INC
Form 11-K
June 28, 2006

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING HOLDINGS INC - Form 11-K

1



Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549-1004

FORM 11-K

þ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005
OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                      to                     
Commission File Number: 1-14303

AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC. SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
(Full title of the plan)

American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings, Inc.
One Dauch Drive, Detroit, MI 48211-1198

(Name of issuer of the securities held pursuant to the plan and the address of its principal
executive offices)
(313) 758-2000

(Registrant�s telephone number,
including area code)

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING HOLDINGS INC - Form 11-K

Table of Contents 2



Table of Contents

AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 1

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

Statements of Assets Available for Benefits as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 2

Statement of Changes in Assets Available for Benefits for the Year Ended December 31, 2005 3

Notes to Financial Statements as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and for the Year Ended
December 31, 2005 4

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2005:

Schedule H, Item 4i � Schedule of Assets Held for Investment Purposes 9

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit 23 � Consent of George Johnson & Company, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 12

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING HOLDINGS INC - Form 11-K

Table of Contents 3



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
June 19, 2006
To the Participants and Plan Administrator
American Axle & Manufacturing, Inc. Salaried Savings Plan
Detroit, Michigan
We have audited the accompanying statements of assets available for benefits of the American Axle & Manufacturing,
Inc. Salaried Savings Plan (the �Plan�) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related statement of changes in assets
available for benefits for the year ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Plan�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the assets available for
benefits of the Plan as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the changes in assets available for benefits for the year
ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole.
The supplemental schedule of assets held for investment purposes as of December 31, 2005 is presented for purposes
of complying with the Department of Labor�s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. This
schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic financial statements and, in
our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.
/s/ George Johnson & Company
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Detroit, Michigan
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AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
STATEMENTS OF ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004

2005 2004
ASSETS:
Participant-directed investments:
Investments, at fair value (Notes 2 and 3):
Investments in registered investment companies $ 94,182,264 $ 82,358,017
Common stock � American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings, Inc. 3,654,957 3,429,496
Collective trust fund 11,949,236 11,562,150

Total Investments, at Fair Value 109,786,457 97,349,663

Investments, at cost (Note 2):
Participant loans receivable 2,403,027 2,607,132

Total Investments 112,189,484 99,956,795

Receivables:
Participant contributions 398,374 358,229
Employer contributions 110,598 106,033

Total Receivables 508,972 464,262

TOTAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS $ 112,698,456 $ 100,421,057

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
-2-
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AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Participant-
Directed

Investments
ADDITIONS:
Participant contributions $ 10,507,753
Employer contributions 4,871,366

Total Contributions 15,379,119

Interest income on participant loans 114,177
Dividends 4,492,210
Net appreciation in fair value of investments (Note 3) 1,104,475

Total Additions 21,089,981

DEDUCTIONS:
Benefits paid to participants 8,796,186
Administrative expenses 16,396

Total Deductions 8,812,582

INCREASE IN ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS 12,277,399

ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 100,421,057

ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS, END OF YEAR $ 112,698,456

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
-3-
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AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004 AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

General � The following description of the American Axle & Manufacturing, Inc. Salaried Savings Plan (the �Plan�)
provides only general information. Participants should refer to the summary plan description for more complete
details of the Plan�s provisions. Copies of the summary plan description are available from the human resource
department of American Axle & Manufacturing, Inc. (the �Company�).

The Plan, established March 1, 1994, is a defined contribution plan covering substantially all salaried employees of
the Company and salaried employees of the Company�s U.S. subsidiaries. The Company may amend, modify,
suspend, or terminate the Plan to the extent not prohibited by the Plan. No amendment, modification, suspension,
or termination of the Plan shall have the effect of providing that any amounts then held under the Plan may be used
or diverted to any purpose other than for the exclusive benefit of participants or their beneficiaries. The Plan is
subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (�ERISA�).

Contributions � The Plan provides for each participant to contribute from 1% to 40% of his or her eligible earnings.
The employee contributions may be made on a pre-tax or after-tax basis. Participant contributions up to 6% receive
an additional matching amount equal to 50% from the Company. Employees over age 50 may contribute an
additional $4,000 for the 2005 calendar year as a catch-up contribution. Certain limitations exist as defined in the
Plan agreement as to maximum contribution amounts. Additionally, participants may transfer funds into the Plan
from other qualified plans. Employee participation is voluntary.

Vesting � Contributions made by participants shall vest immediately upon allocation to the account of the
participant. The Company�s contributions and earnings thereon shall vest upon the attainment of three years of
credited service. Assets representing Company contributions which are not vested prior to a participant�s
withdrawal or termination of employment shall be applied to reduce subsequent Company contributions. If the
Plan is terminated, any amount not so applied shall be credited ratably to the accounts of all participants.

Investment Options � Participants may direct investments to be split among any of the investment fund options
available.

-4-
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AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004 AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN (CONTINUED)

Participant Loans � The Plan allows participants to borrow against their account balances with repayment through
payroll deductions. Loans may range from a minimum of $1,000 to a maximum of $50,000 or 50%, whichever is
less, of the participant�s vested account balance.

Hardship Withdrawals � The Plan provides for early withdrawal of savings in the event of a participant�s financial
hardship. A financial hardship is considered to be those amounts necessary to prevent an eviction from, or
mortgage foreclosure on, the participant�s principal residence, extraordinary medical expenses for one or more
members of the participant�s immediate family not covered by insurance, post-secondary tuition for one or more
members of the participant�s immediate family, or the purchase or construction of a principal place of residence. A
financial hardship exists only when funds are not reasonably available from the participant�s other sources, and the
amount withdrawn must not exceed the amount needed in the situation.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General � The financial statements of the Plan are presented on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (�GAAP�).

Valuation of Investments � The Plan�s investments are stated at fair value. The shares of registered investment
companies and common stock, as well as the units of collective trust funds, are valued at quoted market prices that
represent the asset value of the shares or units held by the Plan at year-end. Participant loans are recorded at cost,
which approximates fair value.

Use of Estimates � The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets available for benefits at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of increases or decreases in assets available for benefits during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Plan invests in various securities, including
mutual funds. Investment securities, in general, are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and
overall market volatility. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is reasonably
possible that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could
materially affect the amounts reported in the statements of assets available for benefits.

-5-
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AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004 AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

3. INVESTMENTS

The fair value of individual investments that exceed five percent of the Plan�s assets available for benefits is as
follows as of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

2005 2004
Fidelity Low-Priced Stock Fund $36,701,327 $34,116,550
Spartan U.S. Equity Index Fund 20,965,633 20,517,081
Fidelity Diversified International Fund 13,505,506 10,237,988
Fidelity Managed Income Portfolio II Fund 11,949,236 11,562,150
Fidelity Freedom 2020 Fund 5,537,155 5,172,161
For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Plan�s investments (including gains and losses on investments bought
and sold, as well as held during the year) appreciated/(depreciated) in value as follows:

Common stock � American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings, Inc. $ (1,996,238)
Investments in registered investment companies 3,100,713

Net Appreciation in Value $ 1,104,475

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Plan held the following investments with various parties-in-interest:

2005 2004
Registered investment companies managed by Fidelity Management
Trust Company (�Fidelity�) $ 84,559,429 $ 76,236,405
Collective trust fund managed by Fidelity 11,949,236 11,562,150
Common stock � American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings, Inc. 3,654,957 3,429,496
Participant loans receivable 2,403,027 2,607,132

$ 102,566,649 $ 93,835,183

-6-
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AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004 AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

4. PLAN TERMINATION

Although it has not expressed any intent to do so, the Company reserves the right to discontinue its contributions at
any time and to terminate the Plan subject to the provisions of ERISA and any applicable agreements. In the event
of Plan termination, each participant would have a nonforfeitable right to his or her total account balance as of the
date of termination. Company contributions and earnings thereon which are not vested at the time of termination
would be credited ratably to the accounts of all participants.

5. TRANSACTIONS WITH PARTIES-IN-INTEREST

Fees for accounting, legal, and trustee services were paid by the Company on behalf of the Plan. The fees paid by
the Company for services rendered by parties-in-interest were based on customary and reasonable rates for such
services.

Certain investments held by the Plan as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 are managed by Fidelity, the trustee and
custodian of the Plan. Such investments fall within the investment guidelines of the Plan and are considered
parties-in-interest. See Note 3 for investments held by the Plan with various parties-in-interest.

6. INCOME TAX STATUS

The Plan obtained its latest determination letter on August 31, 2004, in which the Internal Revenue Service stated
that the Plan, as then designed, was in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code
(�IRC�). The Plan has been amended since receiving the determination letter. However, the Plan administrator and
the Plan�s tax counsel believe that the Plan is currently designed and being operated in compliance with the
applicable requirements of the IRC. Therefore, no provision for income taxes has been included in the Plan�s
financial statements.

-7-
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AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN
(Federal Employer Identification Number: 38-3138388; Plan Number: 005)
SCHEDULE OF ASSETS HELD FOR INVESTMENT PURPOSES (Form 5500, Schedule H, Item 4i)
DECEMBER 31, 2005

Description of
Investment

(Including Maturity
Date,

Party-in- Identity of Issue, Borrower,
Rate of Interest,
Collateral, Current

Interest Lessor, or Similar Party
and Par or Maturity

Value) Cost Value
Registered Investment Companies:
Managed by Fidelity Management Trust Company:

* Fidelity Low-Priced Stock Fund 898,661.278 shares (a) $ 36,701,327
* Fidelity Diversified International Fund 415,043.201 shares (a) 13,505,506
* Fidelity Freedom Income Fund 68,499.391 shares (a) 778,838
* Fidelity Freedom 2000 Fund 33,498.406 shares (a) 409,015
* Fidelity Freedom 2010 Fund 88,923.534 shares (a) 1,249,376
* Fidelity Freedom 2020 Fund 376,421.147 shares (a) 5,537,155
* Fidelity Freedom 2030 Fund 259,361.382 shares (a) 3,895,608
* Fidelity Freedom 2040 Fund 171,797.416 shares (a) 1,516,971
* Spartan U.S. Equity Index Fund 474,765.242 shares (a) 20,965,633

84,559,429

Other:
PIMCO Total Return Institutional Class Fund 447,426.113 shares (a) 4,697,974
PIMCO High Yield Institutional Class Fund 244,836.815 shares (a) 2,379,814
Domini Social Equity R Fund 41,313.743 shares (a) 467,672
Munder Small Cap Value Y Class Fund 46,513.326 shares (a) 1,278,651
American Beacon Small Cap Value Institutional Class Fund 39,153.132 shares (a) 798,724

94,182,264

Common Stock:
* American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings, Inc. 199,397.550 shares (a) 3,654,957

Collective Trust Fund:
* Fidelity Managed Income Portfolio II Fund 11,949,235.850 units (a) 11,949,236

Participant Loans Receivable:
*

Plan participants
Loans receivable;
interest rates
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ranged from 5.15
percent to
6.59 percent during
2005

$ -0- 2,403,027

$ 112,189,484

(a) - These are
participant-directed
investments;
therefore, the cost is
not required to be
reported.

There were no investment assets reportable as acquired and disposed of during the year ended December 31, 2005.
-9-
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the trustees (or other persons who administer the
employee benefit plan) have duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly
authorized.
This information shall not be deemed �filed� for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the �Exchange Act�),
or incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act.

AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING, INC.
SALARIED SAVINGS PLAN

June 28, 2006
/s/ Michael K. Simonte

Michael K. Simonte
Vice President � Finance & Chief Financial Officer
American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings, Inc.

-10-
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rowings based on a spread over LIBOR, NIBOR or EURIBOR for 30 days to 6 months. Our objective in maintaining
a portion of our debt in variable rate borrowings is the flexibility obtained regarding early repayment without penalties
and lower overall cost as compared with fixed-rate borrowings.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Our estimation process generally relates to
potential bad debts, obsolete and slow moving inventory, revenue recognition on long term contracts, value of
intangible assets, and deferred income tax accounting. Note 1 to the consolidated financial

9
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statements contains the accounting policies governing each of these matters. Our estimates are based on historical
experience and on our future expectations that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. The combination
of these factors result in the amounts shown as carrying values of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from our current estimates and those differences may be material.

We believe the following accounting policies are the most critical in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements:

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivables by providing for specifically identified
accounts where collectibility is doubtful and a general allowance based on the aging of the receivables compared to
past experience and current trends. A majority of our revenues come from drilling contractors, independent oil
companies, international oil companies and government-owned or government-controlled oil companies, and we have
receivables, some denominated in local currency, in many foreign countries. If, due to changes in worldwide oil and
gas drilling activity or changes in economic conditions in certain foreign countries, our customers were unable to
repay these receivables, additional allowances would be required.

Allowances for inventory obsolescence are determined based on our historical usage of inventory on-hand as well as
our future expectations related to our substantial installed base and the development of new products. Changes in
worldwide oil and gas drilling activity and the development of new technologies associated with the drilling industry
could require additional allowances to reduce the value of inventory to the lower of its cost or net realizable value.

We recognize revenue on long-term construction contracts using the percentage of completion method and is an
output based measure focused on engineering estimates and manufacturing progress. This method is used because we
believe this is the most meaningful measurement of the extent of progress toward completion. This methodology
requires us to make estimates regarding the total costs of the project, our progress against the project schedule and the
estimated completion date, all of which impact the amount of revenue and gross margin we recognize in each
reporting period. Changes in job performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising from
contract penalty provisions, and final contract settlements may result in revisions to costs and income and are
recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. Profit incentives are included in revenues when their
realization is reasonably assured. Provisions for anticipated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in full when
such losses become evident.

We account for our defined benefit pension plans in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 87, Employers� Accounting for Pensions (FAS 87), which requires that amounts recognized in the financial
statements be determined on an actuarial basis. Significant elements in determining our pension income or expense in
accordance with FAS 87 are the discount rate assumption and the expected return on plan assets. The discount rate
used approximates the weighted average rate of return on high-quality fixed income investments whose maturities
match the expected payouts. The expected return on plan assets is based upon the geometric mean of historical returns
of a number of different equities, including stocks, bonds and U.S. treasury bills. The assumed long-term rate of return
on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan assets, which results in an estimated return on plan assets that is
included in current year pension income or expense. The difference between this expected return and the actual return
on plan assets is deferred and amortized against future pension income or expense. A substantial portion of our
pension amounts relate to our defined benefit plans in the United States, Norway and the United Kingdom. Between
the years 2000-2003, we assumed that the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for these plans would be
between 6.3% and 8.5%. Prior to 2001, our actual cumulative long-term rate of return on the pension assets of these
plans was in excess of these amounts; however, these plans� assets have recently earned substantially less than the
assumed rates of return. The impact of our pension plans on our 2004 results of operations, cash flow and
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liquidity has been immaterial but recent actual returns of the plan assets may effect future contributions to the plans
and our earnings. The amount of unrecognized losses on pension assets is $21.0 million.

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The cost of the acquired company is
allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets based on estimated fair value, with the excess allocated to
goodwill. On at least an annual basis, we assess whether goodwill is impaired. Our annual impairment tests are
performed at the beginning of the 4th quarter of each year. If we determine that goodwill is impaired, we measure that
impairment based on the amount by which the book value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. The implied fair
value of goodwill is determined by deducting the fair value of a reporting unit�s identifiable assets and liabilities from
the fair value of that reporting unit as a whole. Additional impairment assessments may be performed on an interim
basis if we encounter events or changes in circumstances that would indicate that, more likely than not, the carrying
amount of goodwill has been impaired. The fair value of the reporting units is determined based on internal
management estimates which consider multiple valuation techniques.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, we account for income taxes using
the asset and liability method. In determining income (loss) for financial statement purposes, we must make certain
estimates and judgments. These estimates and judgments affect the calculation of certain tax liabilities and the
determination of the recoverability of certain of the deferred tax assets, which arise from temporary differences
between the tax and financial statement recognition of revenue and expense. Deferred tax assets are also reduced by a
valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred
tax assets we consider all available positive and negative evidence including our past operating results, the existence
of cumulative losses in the most recent years and our forecast of future taxable income. In estimating future taxable
income, we develop assumptions including the amount of future state, federal and international pretax operating
income, reversal of temporary differences and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies.
These assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable income and are consistent with
the plans and estimates we are using to manage the underlying businesses.

We currently have recorded significant valuation allowances that we intend to maintain until it is more likely than not
the deferred tax assets will be realized. Other than valuation allowances associated with tax attributes acquired
through acquisitions, our income tax expense recorded in the future will be reduced to the extent of decreases in our
valuation allowances. The realization of our remaining deferred tax assets is primarily dependent on future taxable
income. Any reduction in future taxable income including but not limited to any future restructuring activities may
require that we record an additional valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. An increase in the valuation
allowance would result in additional income tax expense in such period and could have a significant impact on our
future earnings. If a change in a valuation allowance occurs, which was established in connection with an acquisition,
such adjustment may impact goodwill rather than the income tax provision. In addition, the calculation of our tax
liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of
jurisdictions across our global operations. We recognize potential liabilities and record tax reserves for anticipated tax
audit issues in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which,
additional taxes will be due. These tax liabilities are reflected net of related tax loss carryforwards. We adjust these
reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties,
the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the tax
liabilities. If our estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, an additional charge to
expense would result. If payment of these amounts ultimately proves to be less than the recorded amounts, the reversal
of the liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when we determine the reserves are no
longer necessary. If the tax liabilities relate to tax uncertainties existing at the date of the acquisition of a business, the
adjustment of such tax liabilities will result in an adjustment to the goodwill recorded at the date of acquisition.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 106-2, �Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003� (�FSP 106-2�). FSP 106-2 provides guidance
on accounting for the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
�Act�) for employers that sponsor postretirement health care plans that provide prescription drug benefits. FSP 106-2 is
effective for the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2004. The adoption of FSP 106-2 did not have
a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, �Inventory Costs � an
amendment of ARB 43, Chapter 4� (�SFAS 151�). SFAS 151 clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material. Paragraph 5 of Accounting Research Bulletin (�ARB�) 43,
Chapter 4 �Inventory Pricing,� previously stated that �under certain circumstances, items such as idle facility expense,
excessive spoilage, double freight, and rehandling costs may be so abnormal as to require treatment as current-period
charges.� SFAS 151 requires that those items be recognized as current-period charges regardless of whether they meet
the criterion of �so abnormal.� In addition, SFAS 151 requires that the allocation of fixed production overheads to the
costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not believe the implementation of SFAS 151 will have a material impact on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123-Revised 2004 (�Revised
SFAS 123�), �Share-Based Payment.� This is a revision of SFAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,�
and supersedes APB No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.� Currently, we do not record compensation
expense for stock-based compensation. Under Revised SFAS 123, we will be required to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for stock based on the grant-date fair value (with limited exceptions). That
cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the
award (usually the vesting period). The fair value will be estimated using an option-pricing model. Excess tax
benefits, as defined in Revised SFAS 123, will be recognized as an addition to paid-in capital. This is effective as of
the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Revised SFAS 123
permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods: 1) a �modified prospective� method in
which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the requirements of Revised
SFAS 123 for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of Revised
SFAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of Revised SFAS 123 that remain unvested
on the effective date, or 2) a �modified retrospective� method which includes the requirements of the modified
prospective method described above, but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized
under Statement 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim
periods of the year of adoption. We are currently in the process of evaluating the impact of Revised SFAS 123 on our
financial statements, including different option-pricing models. The pro forma table in Note 1 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1, �Application of FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004� (�FSP 109-1�) and FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-2, �Accounting and Disclosure
Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004� (�FSP
109-2�). FSP 109-1 clarifies the guidance in FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, �Accounting
for Income Taxes� (�Statement 109�) that applies to the new deduction for qualified domestic production activities under
the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the �Act�). FSP 109-1 clarifies that the deduction should be accounted for as a
special deduction under Statement 109, not as a tax-rate reduction, because the deduction is contingent on performing
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activities identified in the Act. As a result, companies qualifying for the special deduction will not have a one-time
adjustment of deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period the Act is enacted. FSP 109-2 addresses the effect of the
Act�s one-time deduction for qualifying repatriations of foreign earnings. FSP 109-2 allows additional time for
companies to determine whether any foreign earnings will be repatriated under the Act�s one-time deduction for
repatriated earnings and how the Act affects whether undistributed earnings continue to qualify for Statement 109�s
exception from recognizing deferred tax liabilities. FSP 109-1 and FSP 109-2 were both effective upon issuance. We
have implemented FSP 109-1 and FSP 109-2 in the quarter ended December 31, 2004 and have included the required
disclosures in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

12

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING HOLDINGS INC - Form 11-K

Table of Contents 21



Table of Contents

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the information in this document contains, or has incorporated by reference, forward-looking statements.
Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements typically are identified by use of terms such as �may,� �will,� �expect,� �anticipate,�
�estimate,� and similar words, although some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. You should be
aware that our actual results could differ materially from results anticipated in the forward-looking statements due to a
number of factors, including but not limited to changes in oil and gas prices, customer demand for our products and
worldwide economic activity. You should also consider carefully the statements under �Risk Factors� which address
additional factors that could cause our actual results to differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements.
Given these uncertainties, current or prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any such
forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update any such factors or forward-looking statements to
reflect future events or developments.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Incorporated by reference to Item 7 above, �Market Risk Disclosure.�

Item 8. Financial Statement and Supplementary Data

Attached hereto and a part of this report are financial statements and supplementary data listed in Item 15.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

13
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Subsequent to the initial filing of this annual report on Form 10-K, the Company discovered unreconciled
differences in materials-in-transit inventory accounts between its consolidated subsidiaries. The Company�s
investigation of inventory and related intercompany accounts discovered unreconciled differences related to
materials-in-transit and intercompany account balances from December 31, 2001 through September 30, 2005.
Upon evaluation of the results of this investigation, management of the Company determined that the Company
had a deficiency in controls relating to materials-in-transit and intercompany accounts, and further concluded that
such deficiency represented a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004.
For the reasons stated above, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, based on their evaluation of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e)), have revised the
previous conclusions of management of the Company stated in the initial filing of this annual report on Form 10-K
and concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective as of the end of the period covered by
this report.

Management�s annual report on internal control over financial reporting

A revised annual report of management of the Company on internal control over financial reporting is included in
Item 15 of this annual report on Form 10-K/A.

Attestation report of the registered public accounting firm.

A revised annual report of Ernst &Young LLP on internal control over financial reporting of the Company is
included in Item 15 of this annual report on Form 10-K/A.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

During 2005 the Company implemented the following steps, among others, to remediate and strengthen its internal
controls over materials-in-transit inventory and intercompany account reconciliations:
1. The Company has changed its reconciliation process to require individual subsidiaries to reconcile all

intercompany balances with counterparties on a monthly and transaction-by transaction basis in a timely
manner;

2. The Company appointed a worldwide intercompany controller to monitor the effectiveness of intercompany
controls; and

3. The Company has corrected errors and improved processes to develop detailed support for its outstanding
materials-in-transit account balances.

As a result of these improvements, management of the Company believes that its internal controls relating to the
materials-in-transit and intercompany accounts are functioning effectively.
There were no other changes in the Company�s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company�s last fiscal quarter covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.

14
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

a) Financial Statements and Exhibits

1. Financial Statements
The following financial statements are presented in response to Part II, Item 8:

Page(s) in
This Report

Consolidated Balance Sheets 21

Consolidated Statements of Operations 22

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 23

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders�
Equity

24

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 25-47

2. Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II � Valuation and Qualifying
Accounts

48

All schedules, other than Schedule II, are omitted because they are not applicable, not required or
the information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

  2.1  Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, effective as of August 11, between
National-Oilwell, Inc. and Varco International, Inc. (4).

  3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of National-Oilwell, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1) (1).

  3.2  By-laws of National-Oilwell, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2) (5).

10.1  Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2002 between Merrill A. Miller, Jr. and National Oilwell,
with a similar agreement with Steven W. Krablin (Exhibit 10.1) (2).

10.2  Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2002 between Dwight W. Rettig and National Oilwell, with
similar agreements with Robert L. Bloom, Howard E. Davis, Kevin A. Neveu, Mark A. Reese, Jeremy D.
Thigpen and Robert R. Workman (Exhibit 10.2) (2).

10.3  Employment Agreement dated as of June 28, 2000 between Gary W. Stratulate and IRI International, Inc.,
which has now merged into National Oilwell (Exhibit 10.3) (2).
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10.4  Amended and Restated Stock Award and Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1) (3)*.

10.4.1  Form of Stock Option Agreement (Exhibit 10.1) (6)

10.5  Loan Agreement dated July 30, 2002 (Exhibit 10.2) (3).
15
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21.1  Subsidiaries of the Company**.

23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

24.1  Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto)**.

31.1  Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

31.2  Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

32.1  Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2  Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Compensatory plan or arrangement for management or others

** Previously filed

(1) Filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 11, 2000.

(2) Filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2002.

(3) Filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2002.

(4) Filed as Annex A to our Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on September 16, 2004.

(5) Filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 7, 2003.

(6) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2005.
16
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this Amendment to the Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

National Oilwell Varco, Inc.
(formerly National-Oilwell, Inc.)

Date: February 16, 2006 By:  /s/ Clay C. Williams
Clay C. Williams
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
National-Oilwell, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National-Oilwell, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders� equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of
the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of National-Oilwell, Inc. at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity
with U.S generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects
the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial statements have been
restated.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of National-Oilwell, Inc.�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 7, 2005, except for the effects of the material
weakness described in the sixth paragraph of that report, as to which the date is February 16, 2006, expressed an
unqualified opinion on management�s assessment of and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Houston, Texas
March 7, 2005, except for Note 1
        as to which the date is February 16, 2006

18
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MANAGEMENT�S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING (AS
RESTATED)

National Oilwell�s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. National-Oilwell�s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives
because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence
and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control
over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such
limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal
control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting
process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Management has used the framework set forth in the report entitled �Internal Control�Integrated Framework� published
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (�COSO�) of the Treadway Commission to evaluate the effectiveness of
the Company�s internal control over financial reporting. In the Company�s 2004 Form 10-K filed on March 7, 2005,
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.
Subsequently, management concluded that a deficiency in controls relating to materials-in-transit inventory and
intercompany accounts between consolidated subsidiaries existed as of December 31, 2004, and that such deficiency
represented a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. As a result
of this material weakness, our management has revised its earlier assessment and concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2004. This material weakness has caused us to amend
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, in order to restate our consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004.

Management�s revised assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who also has
audited the Company�s restated consolidated financial statements included in this Amendment.

/s/ Merrill A. Miller, Jr
Merrill A. Miller, Jr.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Clay C. Williams
Clay C. Williams
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Houston, Texas

February 16, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

National-Oilwell, Inc.

We have audited management�s assessment, included in the accompanying Management�s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting, that National-Oilwell, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). National-Oilwell, Inc.�s management
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management�s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management�s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
In our report dated March 7, 2005, we expressed an unqualified opinion on management�s previous assessment that the
Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and an unqualified
opinion that the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria. Management has subsequently determined that a deficiency in
controls relating to materials-in-transit and intercompany accounts between consolidated subsidiaries existed as of the
previous assessment date, and has further concluded that such deficiency represented a material weakness as of
December 31, 2004. As a result, management has revised its assessment, as presented in the accompanying
Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, to conclude that the Company�s internal control
over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2004. Accordingly, our present opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, as expressed herein,
is different from that expressed in our previous report.
A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected.
The following material weakness has been identified and included in management�s assessment: In its assessment as of
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December 31, 2004, management identified a material weakness in the Company�s controls over materials-in-transit
and intercompany accounts between consolidated subsidiaries and, as a result, concluded the Company�s previously
reported financial statements had been misstated. The insufficient controls resulted in the restatement of the
Company�s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004. This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and
extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2004 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect
our report dated March 7, 2005, except for Note 1 as to which the date is February 16, 2006, on those consolidated
financial statements (as restated).
In our opinion, management�s assessment that the Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO control criteria. Also,
in our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of
the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the COSO control criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of National-Oilwell, Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders� equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004 of National-Oilwell, Inc. and our report dated March 7, 2005, except for Note 1, as to
which the date is February 16, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Houston, Texas
March 7, 2005, except for the effects of the material
     weakness described in the sixth paragraph above,
     as to which the date is February 16, 2006
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NATIONAL-OILWELL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, except share data)
(Restated)

December 31, December 31,
2004 2003

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 142.7 $ 74.2
Receivables, net 480.1 460.9
Inventories 635.3 517.1
Costs in excess of billings 226.5 107.6
Deferred income taxes 15.6 15.4
Prepaid and other current assets 15.0 41.6

Total current assets 1,515.2 1,216.8
Property, plant and equipment, net 255.1 252.4
Deferred income taxes 55.1 52.4
Goodwill 639.0 587.3
Intangibles, net 91.0 79.3
Property held for sale 1.1 8.7
Other assets 20.0 16.2

$ 2,576.5 $ 2,213.1

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt 150.0 14.9
Accounts payable 407.7 220.5
Customer prepayments 27.9 26.4
Accrued compensation 37.0 25.4
Billings in excess of costs 32.0 49.3
Accrued income taxes 37.0 26.3
Other accrued liabilities 112.6 91.0

Total current liabilities 804.2 453.8
Long-term debt 350.0 594.0
Deferred income taxes 102.8 52.4
Other liabilities 31.5 38.0

Total liabilities 1,288.5 1,138.2

Commitments and contingencies

Minority interest 17.8 15.7
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Stockholders� equity:

Common stock � par value $.01; 85,995,266 and 85,124,979 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 0.9 0.9
Additional paid-in capital 692.9 674.9
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) 33.4 (44.4)
Retained earnings 543.0 427.8

1,270.2 1,059.2

$ 2,576.5 $ 2,213.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NATIONAL-OILWELL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In millions, except per share data)
(Restated)

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Revenues $ 2,318.1 $ 2,004.9 $ 1,521.9

Cost of products sold 1,814.3 1,535.6 1,166.7

Gross profit 503.8 469.3 355.2

Selling, general, and administrative 327.8 305.2 227.5

Operating income 176.0 164.1 127.7

Interest and financial costs (38.4) (38.9) (27.3)
Interest income 3.5 2.3 2.6
Other income (expense), net (2.2) (5.7) 3.7

Income before income taxes and minority interest 138.9 121.8 106.7

Provision for income taxes 21.6 35.9 38.8

Income before minority interest 117.3 85.9 67.9

Minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries (2.1) (6.2) (0.8)

Net income $ 115.2 $ 79.7 $ 67.1

Net income per share:

Basic $ 1.34 $ 0.94 $ 0.83

Diluted $ 1.33 $ 0.94 $ 0.82

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 85.8 84.5 81.0
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Diluted 86.5 85.0 81.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NATIONAL-OILWELL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)
(Restated)

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income $ 115.2 $ 79.7 $ 67.1
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 44.0 39.2 25.0
Provision for losses on receivables 4.0 5.7 3.6
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes (6.7) 6.9 11.5
Gain on sale of assets (18.4) (5.8) (4.5)
Foreign currency transaction losses, net 9.3 7.2 0.3
Tax benefit from exercise of nonqualified stock options 3.4 3.9 0.3
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Receivables (8.6) (6.2) 59.0
Inventories (105.8) (56.4) 31.8
Costs in excess of billings (106.4) (53.8) �
Prepaid and other current assets 27.4 (13.9) (3.0)
Accounts payable 174.3 53.4 (32.0)
Billings in excess of cost (17.7) (12.5) �
Other assets/liabilities, net 52.2 (16.4) (54.7)

Net cash provided by operating activities 166.2 31.0 104.4

Cash flow from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (39.0) (32.4) (24.8)
Proceeds from sale of assets 35.8 7.9 12.5
Businesses acquired and investments in joint ventures, net of
cash (2.8) (78.0) (213.0)

Net cash used by investing activities (6.0) (102.5) (225.3)

Cash flow from financing activities:
Borrowings against lines of credit 521.6 454.6 303.2
Payments against lines of credit (631.5) (439.1) (311.0)
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt � � 199.1
Proceeds from stock options exercised 14.6 9.7 2.0
Other � � 1.3

Net cash provided by financing activities (95.3) 25.2 194.6

Effect of exchange rates on cash 3.6 2.2 1.4

Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents 68.5 (44.1) 75.1
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Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 74.2 118.3 43.2

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 142.7 $ 74.2 $ 118.3

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash payments during the period for:
Interest $ 34.0 $ 35.1 $ 21.6
Income taxes $ 21.4 $ 30.7 $ 45.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NATIONAL-OILWELL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

(In millions, except share data)
(Restated)

Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Paid-in Comprehensive Retained
Stock Capital Loss Earnings Total

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ 0.8 $ 592.5 $ (34.9) $ 281.0 $ 839.4

Net income 67.1 67.1
Other comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments 2.5 2.5
Interest rate contract 0.9 0.9
Minimum liability of defined benefit
plans (12.9) (12.9)

Comprehensive income 57.6
Stock options exercised 0.0 2.0 2.0
Tax benefit of options exercised 0.3 0.3

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 0.8 $ 594.8 $ (44.4) $ 348.1 $ 899.3

Net income 79.7 79.7
Other comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments 4.6 4.6
Interest rate contract (0.1) (0.1)
Minimum liability of defined benefit
plans (4.5) (4.5)

Comprehensive income 79.7
Stock issued for acquisition 0.1 66.5 66.6
Stock options exercised 0.0 9.7 9.7
Tax benefit of options exercised 3.9 3.9

Balance at December 31, 2003 $ 0.9 $ 674.9 $ (44.4) $ 427.8 $ 1,059.2

Net income 115.2 115.2
Other comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments 72.5 72.5
Interest rate contract (0.1) (0.1)
Minimum liability of defined benefit
plans 5.4 5.4

Comprehensive income 193.0
Stock options exercised � 14.6 14.6
Tax benefit of options exercised 3.4 3.4
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Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 0.9 $ 692.9 $ 33.4 $ 543.0 $ 1,270.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NATIONAL-OILWELL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Restated)

1. Restatement and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Restatement of previously issued financial statements
On February 17, 2006 the Company announced that it was restating its previously issued Consolidated Financial
Statements for each of 2004, 2003, and 2002 due to errors in intercompany and inventory accounts. The restatement
had no impact on the reported net income of the Company for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2005, and
resulted in an increase (decrease) to net income of $5.0 million, $2.9 million, and ($6.0 million) for the fiscal years
ending December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. In addition, the restatement also reduced inventory and
stockholders� equity by $28.1 million as of December 31, 2001.
In late 2005, the Company discovered unreconciled differences related to materials-in-transit and intercompany
accounts between consolidated subsidiaries. The Company�s investigation of inventory and related intercompany
accounts discovered misstatements of certain account balances from December 31, 2001 through September 30, 2005.
The Company has made revisions to its intercompany and inventory controls to identify and prevent these issues from
recurring in future periods. During 2005, the Company implemented the following steps, among others, to remeditate
and strengthen its internal controls over materials-in-transit and intercompany account reconciliations: 1) The
Company has changed its reconciliation process to require individual subsidiaries to reconcile all intercompany
balances with counter parties on a monthly and transaction-by-transaction basis. 2) The Company appointed a
worldwide intercompany controller to monitor the effectiveness of these controls. 3) The Company has corrected
errors and improved processes to develop detailed support for its outstanding materials-in-transit account balances. As
a result of these improvements, the Company believes that the financial controls over the materials-in-transit and
intercompany accounts are functioning effectively.
The following tables compares the Company�s reported and restated financial results for each of the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
As originally reported (in millions; except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Stockholders� Equity $ 1,296.4 $ 1,090.4 $ 933.4
Income Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest $ 131.5 $ 116.7 $ 113.3
Net Income $ 110.2 $ 76.8 $ 73.1

Net Income per Diluted Share $ 1.27 $ 0.90 $ 0.89

As restated (in millions; except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Stockholders� Equity $ 1,270.2 $ 1,059.2 $ 899.3
Income Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest $ 138.9 $ 121.8 $ 106.7
Net Income $ 115.2 $ 79.7 $ 67.1

Net Income per Diluted Share $ 1.33 $ 0.94 $ 0.82

Difference (in millions; except per share data):
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Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Stockholders� Equity $ (26.2) $ (31.2) $ (34.1)
Income Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest $ 7.4 $ 5.1 $ (6.6)
Net Income $ 5.0 $ 2.9 $ (6.0)

Net Income (Loss) per Diluted Share $ 0.06 $ 0.04 $ (0.07)

Amounts for 2002 and prior periods have not been tax effected as the ability to obtain tax deductions is uncertain.

In addition, the restatement resulted in changes to the consolidated statement of cash flows and Notes 3, 10, 11 and
12.

Nature of Business

We design, construct, manufacture and sell comprehensive systems, components, and products used in oil and gas
drilling and production, as well as distribute products and provide supply chain integration services to the upstream oil
and gas industry. Our revenues and operating results are directly related to the level of worldwide oil and gas drilling
and production activities and the profitability and cash flow of oil and gas companies and drilling contractors, which
in turn are affected by current and anticipated prices of oil and gas. Oil and gas prices have been and are likely to
continue to be volatile.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of National-Oilwell, Inc. and its
majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation. Investments that are not wholly-owned, but where we exercise control, are fully consolidated with the
equity held by minority owners and their portion of net income (loss) reflected as minority interest in the
accompanying financial statements. Investments in unconsolidated affiliates, over which we exercise significant
influence, but not control, are accounted for by the equity method. Investments in which we exercise no control or
significant influence would be accounted for under the cost method. Certain reclassifications have been made to the
2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements in order for them to conform with the 2004 presentation.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and payables
approximated fair value because of the relatively short maturity of these instruments. Cash equivalents include only
those investments having a maturity date of three months or less at the time of purchase. The carrying values of other
financial instruments approximate their respective fair values.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We record all derivative financial instruments at their fair value in our consolidated balance sheet. All derivative
financial instruments we hold are designated as cash flow hedges and are highly effective in offsetting movements in
the underlying risks. Accordingly, gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
are deferred and recognized in earnings as the underlying transactions occur. Because our derivative financial
instruments are so closely related to the underlying transactions, hedge ineffectiveness is insignificant.
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We use foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates on
firm sale commitments to better match the local currency cost components of our fixed US dollar contracts. Such
arrangements typically have terms between three months and one year, depending upon the customer�s purchase order.
We may also use interest rate contracts to mitigate our exposure to changes in interest rates on anticipated long-term
debt issuances. These contracts are typically short term in nature. We do not use derivative financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes.
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Inventories

Inventories consist of oilfield products, manufactured equipment, specialized drilling products and downhole motors
and spare parts for manufactured equipment and drilling products. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market
using the first-in, first-out or average cost methods. Allowances for excess and obsolete inventories are determined
based on our historical usage of inventory on-hand as well as our future expectations related to our substantial
installed base and the development of new products. The allowance, which totaled $41.2 million and $45.3 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, is the amount necessary to reduce the cost of the inventory to its estimated realizable
value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for major improvements that extend the lives of
property and equipment are capitalized while minor replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged to operations
as incurred. Disposals are removed at cost less accumulated depreciation with any resulting gain or loss reflected in
operations. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method or declining balance method over the estimated
useful lives of individual items. Depreciation expense was $41.6 million, $37.4 million and $25.0 million for the years
ending December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Long-lived Assets

We record impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the
assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the
carrying amount of those assets. The carrying value of assets used in operations that is not recoverable is reduced to
fair value if lower than carrying value. In determining the fair market value of the assets, we consider market trends
and recent transactions involving sales of similar assets, or when not available, discounted cash flow analysis.

Assets Held for Sale

In the course of integrating acquisitions and streamlining operations, we have closed certain manufacturing facilities
and non-strategic assets. Facilities that are available for immediate sale, under a formal plan that is probable of
completion within one year, are classified as held for sale. When we designate an asset as held for sale, we adjust its
carrying value to the lower of its current carrying amount or the estimated fair value less costs to sell and stop
recording depreciation expense. Carrying values are adjusted to reflect any subsequent deterioration in fair value.

Intangible Assets

Beginning in 2002, we adopted FAS 142 �Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets� and accordingly
stopped amortizing goodwill that arose from acquisitions before June 30, 2001. On at least an annual basis, we assess
whether goodwill is impaired. Our annual impairment tests are performed at the beginning of the 4th quarter of each
year and have indicated no impairment. If we determine that goodwill is impaired, we measure that impairment based
on the amount by which the book value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. The implied fair value of goodwill
is determined by deducting the fair value of a reporting unit�s identifiable assets and liabilities from the fair value of
that reporting unit as a whole. Additional impairment assessments may be performed on an interim basis if we
encounter events or changes in circumstances that would indicate that, more likely than not, the carrying amount of
goodwill has been impaired. Fair value of the reporting units is determined based on internal management estimates.
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Goodwill is identified by segment as follows (in millions):

Products and Distribution Corporate/
Technology Service Elimination Total

Balance December 31, 2002 $ 490.9 $ 16.4 $ 4.9 $ 512.2

Additions to Goodwill 39.8 17.1 (0.3) 56.6
Translation Adjustments 15.9 2.3 0.3 18.5

Balance December 31, 2003 546.6 35.8 4.9 587.3
Additions to Goodwill 31.1 (2.2) 1.2 30.1
Translation Adjustments 20.0 1.5 0.1 21.6

Balance December 31, 2004 $ 597.7 $ 35.1 $ 6.2 $ 639.0

Identified intangible assets with determinable lives consist primarily of technical drawings acquired in the acquisitions
of Hydralift, Mono and Corlac and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
15-20 years. The balance at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $36 million and $28 million (net of accumulated
amortization of $4 million and $2 million, respectively). Amortization expense of identified intangibles is expected to
be approximately $2 million in each of the next five years.

Identified intangible assets with indefinite lives consist primarily of tradenames acquired in the acquisitions of
Hydralift, Mono and Corlac. The balance at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $55 million and $50 million. Indefinite
lived intangible assets are not amortized, but are subject to an impairment test on at least an annual basis. An
impairment charge would be recognized if the fair value were determined to be less than the carrying amount. Our
annual impairment tests have indicated no impairment.

Deferred financing costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the related debt securities.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency for certain of our foreign operations is the local currency. The cumulative effects of
translating the balance sheet accounts from the functional currency into the U.S. dollar at current exchange rates are
included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates in effect during the period. Certain other foreign operations use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency.
Accordingly, financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries are remeasured to U.S. dollars for consolidation
purposes using current rates of exchange for monetary assets and liabilities and historical rates of exchange for
nonmonetary assets and related elements of expense. Revenue and other expense elements are remeasured at rates that
approximate the rates in effect on the transaction dates. For all operations, gains or losses from remeasuring foreign
currency transactions into the functional currency are included in income. Net foreign currency transaction losses were
$9.3 million, $7.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ending December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, and are included in other income(expense) in the accompanying statement of operations. These
losses are primarily related to cash balances and intercompany accounts held in U.S. dollars at these subsidiary
locations. The remeasurement of these amounts into the local currency results in an income statement gain or loss,
which is offset when the amount is translated back into U.S. currency for consolidation purposes by way of an
increase or decrease to Other Comprehensive Income in the equity section of the balance sheet.
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Revenue Recognition

Product and service sales are recognized on purchase orders or contracts when product delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered, pricing is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. Our arrangements
do not include right of return or other similar provisions or other significant post delivery obligations. Customer
advances or deposits are deferred and recognized as revenue when we have completed all of our performance
obligations related to the sale. The amounts billed for shipping and handling costs are included in revenue and related
costs are included in costs of sales.

Contracts to design and construct complex rig packages to a customers� specifications are recorded on the
percentage-of-completion method using an output based measure focused on engineering estimates and manufacturing
progress. This method is used because we believe this is the most meaningful measurement of the extent of progress
toward completion. This methodology requires us to make estimates regarding the total costs of the project, our
progress against the project schedule and the estimated completion date, all of which impact the amount of revenue
and gross margin we recognize in each reporting period. Contract costs include all direct material, labor and
subcontract costs. Changes in job performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising
from contract penalty provisions, and final contract settlements may result in revisions to costs and income and are
recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. Profit incentives are included in revenues when their
realization is reasonably assured. Provisions for anticipated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in full when
such losses become evident.

The asset, �Costs in excess of billings,� represents revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. The liability,
�Billings in excess of costs,� represents billings in excess of revenues recognized.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used to account for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax
rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established
when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts which are more likely than not to be realized.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We grant credit to our customers, which operate primarily in the oil and gas industry. Concentrations of credit risk are
limited because we have a large number of geographically diverse customers, thus spreading trade credit risk. We
control credit risk thorough credit evaluations, credit limits and monitoring procedures. We perform periodic credit
evaluations of our customers� financial condition and generally do not require collateral, but may require letters of
credit for certain international sales. Credit losses are provided for in the financial statements. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivables by providing for specifically identified accounts where
collectibility is doubtful and an additional allowance based on the aging of the receivables compared to past
experience and current trends. Accounts receivable are net of allowances for doubtful accounts of approximately
$12.8 million and $18.3 million at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We use the intrinsic value method in accounting for our stock-based employee compensation plans.

Assuming that we had accounted for our stock-based compensation using the alternative fair value method of
accounting under FAS No. 123 and amortized the fair value to expense over the option�s vesting period, our net
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income and net income per share would have been (in millions, except per share data):
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Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

These pro forma results may not be indicative of future effects.

Environmental Liabilities

When environmental assessments or remediations are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated, remediation
liabilities are recorded on an undiscounted basis and are adjusted as further information develops or circumstances
change.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported and contingent amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of weighted average basic and diluted shares outstanding (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Denominator for basic earnings per share � weighted average 85.8 84.5 81.0

Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options 0.7 0.5 0.7

Denominator for diluted earnings per share � adjusted weighted
average shares and assumed conversions 86.5 85.0 81.7

In addition, we had stock options outstanding that were anti-dilutive totaling 0.8 million at December 31, 2004,
2.3 million at December 31, 2003, and 1.6 million at December 31, 2002.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 106-2, �Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003� (�FSP 106-2�). FSP 106-2 provides guidance
on accounting for the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
�Act�) for employers that sponsor postretirement health care plans that provide prescription drug benefits. FSP 106-2 is
effective for the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2004. The adoption of FSP 106-2 did not have
a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, �Inventory Costs � an
amendment of ARB 43, Chapter 4� (�SFAS 151�). SFAS 151 clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material. Paragraph 5 of Accounting Research Bulletin (�ARB�) 43,
Chapter 4 �Inventory Pricing,� previously stated that �under certain circumstances, items such as idle facility expense,
excessive spoilage, double freight, and rehandling costs may be so abnormal as to require treatment as current-period
charges.� SFAS 151 requires that those items be recognized as current-period charges regardless of whether they meet
the criterion of �so abnormal.� In addition, SFAS 151 requires that the allocation of fixed production overheads to the
costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not believe the implementation of SFAS 151 will have a material impact on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123-Revised 2004 (�Revised
SFAS 123�), �Share-Based Payment.� This is a revision of SFAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,�
and supersedes APB No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.� Currently, we do not record compensation
expense for stock-based compensation. Under Revised SFAS 123, we will be required to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for stock based on the grant-date fair value (with limited exceptions). That
cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the
award (usually the vesting period). The fair value will be estimated using an option-pricing model. Excess tax
benefits, as defined in Revised SFAS 123, will be recognized as an addition to paid-in capital. This is effective as of
the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Revised SFAS 123
permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods: 1) a �modified prospective� method in
which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the requirements of Revised
SFAS 123 for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of Revised
SFAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of Revised SFAS 123 that remain unvested
on the effective date, or 2) a �modified retrospective� method which includes the requirements of the modified
prospective method described above, but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized
under Statement 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim
periods of the year of adoption. We are currently in the process of evaluating the impact of Revised SFAS 123 on our
financial statements, including different option-pricing models. The pro forma table in Note 1 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1, �Application of FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004� (�FSP 109-1�) and FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-2, �Accounting and Disclosure
Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004� (�FSP
109-2�). FSP 109-1 clarifies the guidance in FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, �Accounting
for Income Taxes� (�Statement 109�) that applies to the new deduction for qualified domestic production activities under
the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the �Act�). FSP 109-1 clarifies that the deduction should be accounted for as a
special deduction under Statement 109, not as a tax-rate reduction, because the deduction is contingent on performing
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activities identified in the Act. As a result, companies qualifying for the special deduction will not have a one-time
adjustment of deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period the Act is enacted. FSP 109-2 addresses the effect of the
Act�s one-time deduction for qualifying repatriations of foreign earnings. FSP 109-2 allows additional time for
companies to determine whether any foreign earnings will be repatriated under the Act�s one-time deduction for
repatriated earnings and how the Act affects whether undistributed earnings continue to qualify for Statement 109�s
exception from recognizing deferred tax liabilities. FSP 109-1 and FSP 109-2 were both
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effective upon issuance. We have implemented FSP 109-1 and FSP 109-2 in the quarter ended December 31, 2004
and have included the required disclosures in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. Acquisitions

On August 11, 2004, we agreed to combine our businesses with Varco International, Inc. by merging Varco with and
into National Oilwell, with National Oilwell continuing as the surviving corporation. Consummation of the merger
requires approval by the stockholders of both companies and also approval from various regulatory agencies. We
anticipate completion of the merger during March 2005.

Year 2004

We spent $2.8 million during 2004 acquiring assets or companies, with the largest being a distribution operation in
Australia.

Year 2003

On January 16, 2003, we acquired the Mono pumping products business from Halliburton Energy Services for
approximately $91 million, consisting of $24 million in cash and 3.2 million shares of our common stock valued at
$67 million. During the remainder of 2003 we made eight other acquisitions representing cash outlays totaling
$54 million primarily expanding our Distribution network.

Year 2002

On December 18, 2002, we completed a cash tender offer for 92% of the common shares of Hydralift ASA, a
Norwegian based company specializing in the offshore drilling equipment industry. By December 31, 2002, we had
substantially completed the acquisition of the remaining shares for a total purchase price, including the assumption of
debt and net of cash acquired, of approximately $300 million. The results of Hydralift�s operations have been included
in our income statement since the acquisition date.

During 2002 we also acquired three other businesses, primarily within our Products and Technology segment, for
approximately $17 million in cash.

3. Inventories

      Inventories consist of (in millions):

December
31,

December
31,

2004 2003
(restated) (restated)

Raw materials and supplies $ 62.6 $ 45.4
Work in process 104.2 107.7
Finished goods and purchased products 468.5 364.0

Total $ 635.3 $ 517.1
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4. Property, Plant and Equipment

      Property, plant and equipment consists of (in millions):

Estimated December 31, December 31,
Useful
Lives 2004 2003

Land and improvements 2-20 Years $ 20.8 $ 23.7
Buildings and improvements 5-31 Years 117.8 99.9
Machinery and equipment 5-12 Years 196.9 154.7
Computer and office equipment 3-10 Years 79.1 95.6
Rental equipment 1-7 Years 91.8 75.7

506.4 449.6
Less accumulated depreciation (251.3) (197.2)

$ 255.1 $ 252.4

5. Long-Term Debt

      Long-term debt consists of (in millions):

December 31, December 31,
2004 2003

Credit facilities $ � $ 108.9
6.875% senior notes 150.0 150.0
6.50% senior notes 150.0 150.0
5.65% senior notes 200.0 200.0

500.0 608.9
Less current portion 150.0 14.9

$ 350.0 $ 594.0

At December 31, 2004, we had two committed credit facilities, a North American and a Norwegian facility, totaling
$279 million. Both facilities are available for general corporate purposes and acquisitions, including letters of credit
and performance bonds.

Our North American facility is a three-year unsecured $175 million revolving credit facility with availability up to
$50 million for issuance of letters of credit that expires July 31, 2005. At December 31, 2004, there were no
borrowings against this facility and there were $53 million in outstanding letters of credit.

Our Norwegian facility, which expires in 2006, has revolving credit facilities totaling $104 million, with $41 million
available for letter of credit purposes. At December 31, 2004, there were no borrowings against this facility and there
were $18 million in outstanding letters of credit.
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We also have additional uncommitted credit facilities totaling $147 million that are used primarily for letters of credit,
bid bonds and performance bonds. At December 31, 2004, there were no borrowings against these additional credit
facilities and there were $49 million in outstanding letters of credit and performance bonds.

In November 2002, we sold $200 million of 5.65% unsecured senior notes due November 15, 2012. Interest is payable
on May 15 and November 15 of each year. In March 2001, we sold $150 million of 6.50% unsecured senior notes due
March 15, 2011, with interest payable on March 15 and September 15 of each year. In June 1998, we sold
$150 million of 6.875% unsecured senior notes due July 1, 2005, with interest payments due annually on January 1
and July 1.
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The $150 million 6 7/8% unsecured senior notes will mature on July 1, 2005. In addition, our $175 million unsecured
North American revolving credit facility expires July 31, 2005. We plan to arrange financing at reasonable terms and
conditions with our existing bank syndication, plus other banks as needed, or utilize surplus cash and certain
discretionary credit facilities to refinance these expiring obligations.

The senior notes contain reporting covenants and the credit facilities contain financial covenants and ratios regarding
maximum debt to capital and minimum interest coverage. We were in compliance with all covenants governing these
facilities at December 31, 2004.

6. Employee Benefit Plans

We have benefit plans covering substantially all of our employees. Defined-contribution benefit plans cover most of
the U.S. and Canadian employees and benefits are based on years of service, a percentage of current earnings and
matching of employee contributions. Employees in our Norwegian operations can elect to participate in a
defined-contribution plan in lieu of a local defined benefit plan. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, expenses for defined-contribution plans were $14.2 million, $13.1 million and $9.1 million, and all funding is
current.

Certain retired or terminated employees of predecessor or acquired companies participate in a defined benefit plan in
the United States. None of the participants in this plan are eligible to accrue benefits. In addition, approximately 175
U.S. retirees and spouses participate in defined benefit health care plans of predecessor or acquired companies that
provide postretirement medical and life insurance benefits. Active employees are ineligible to participate in any of
these defined benefit plans. Our subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and Norway also have defined benefit pension
plans covering virtually all of their employees.
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Net periodic benefit cost (credit) for our defined benefit pension plans in the United States, the United Kingdom and
Norway was as follows (in millions):

Pension benefits Postretirement benefits
For the year 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost � benefits earned
during the period $ 2.9 $ 3.0 $ 0.4 $ 0.1 $ 0.0 $ 0.0
Interest cost on projected
benefit obligation 8.6 7.5 3.3 0.5 0.5 0.5
Expected return on plan
assets (8.8) (7.5) (3.9) � � �
Net amortization and deferral 1.5 1.4 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3

Net periodic benefit cost
(credit) $ 4.2 $ 4.4 $ (0.1) $ 0.8 $ 0.7 $ 0.8

The change in benefit obligation, plan assets and the funded status of the defined benefit pension plans in the United
States, United Kingdom, and Norway and defined postretirement plans in the United States, using a measurement date
of September 30, 2004 or 2003, follows (in millions):

Pension benefits Postretirement benefits
At year end 2004 2003 2004 2003

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 142.2 $ 64.7 $ 8.0 $ 8.5
Service cost 2.9 3.0 0.1 �
Interest cost 8.6 7.5 0.5 0.5
Actuarial (gain) loss (2.0) (9.5) 0.2 (0.5)
Benefits paid (5.6) (4.8) (0.7) (0.6)
Participant contributions 0.8 0.7 � �
Acquisitions � 69.4 � �
Exchange rate gain 11.5 11.0 � �
Curtailments � � (0.9) �
Other � 0.2 0.1 0.1

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 158.4 $ 142.2 $ 7.3 $ 8.0

Accumulated benefit obligation at end of year $ 149.5 $ 133.0

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 120.4 $ 44.7 $ � $ �
Actual return 7.2 8.8 � �
Benefits paid (5.6) (4.7) (0.7) (0.6)
Contributions 3.7 3.8 0.7 0.6
Acquisitions � 58.7 � �
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Exchange rate gain 9.6 9.3 � �
Other � (0.2) � �

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 135.3 $ 120.4 $ � $ �

Funded status $ (21.5) $ (21.4) $ (7.2) $ (7.9)
Unrecognized actuarial net loss 21.3 22.0 3.4 3.5
Prior service costs not yet recognized 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.2

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ � $ 0.9 $ (3.7) $ (4.2)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of (in millions):

Pension benefits Postretirement benefits
2004 2003 2004 2003

Prepaid benefit cost $ (0.2) $ 2.2 $ � $ �
Accrued benefit cost (31.9) (28.1) (3.7) (4.2)
Intangible assets 0.2 0.3 � �
Accumulated other comprehensive income 31.9 26.5 � �

Net amount recognized $ � $ 0.9 $ (3.7) $ (4.2)
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Assumed long-term rates of return on plan assets, discount rates and rates of compensation increases vary for the
different plans according to the local economic conditions.

The assumption rates used for benefit obligations are as follows:

Year ending December 31,
2004 2003

Discount rate:
United States plan 6.00% 6.25%
International plans 6.00% 6.00%
Salary increase:
United States plan n/a n/a
International plans 2.50-2.75% 2.50%

The assumption rates used for net periodic benefit costs are as follows:

Year ending December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Discount rate:
United States plan 6.25% 6.50% 6.87%
International plans 6.00% 5.75-6.00% 5.75%
Salary increase:
United States plan n/a n/a n/a
International plans 2.50% 2.50-4.00% 4.00%
Expected return on assets:
United States plan 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
International plans 6.50-7.75% 6.50-7.75% 6.25%

In determining the overall expected long-term rate of return for plan assets, the Company takes into consideration the
historical experience as well as future expectations of the asset mix involved. As different investments yield different
returns, each asset category must be reviewed individually and then weighted for significance in relation to the total
portfolio.
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The weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2004 and 2003, by asset category are as follows:

2004 2003
United
States International

United
States International

Equity securities 59.4% 56.5% 60.5% 56.9%
Fixed income 39.7% � 38.0% �
Debt securities � 28.7% � 29.7%
Real estate � 1.8% � 1.7%
Other 0.9% 13.0% 1.5% 11.7%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

In the U.S., our investment strategy includes a balanced approach with target allocation percentages of 55-65% equity
investments and 35-45% fixed income investments. Our target allocation percentages in the United Kingdom plans are
80% equity securities, 15% debt securities and 5% real estate. The Norwegian target investment allocation percentage
is 100% insurance contracts. Our pension investment strategy worldwide prohibits a direct investment in our own
stock.

Information for Pension Plans with Projected and Accumulated Benefit Obligations in Excess of Plan Assets (in
millions):

FYE December 31, 2004 FYE December 31, 2003
United
States International

United
States International

Projected benefit obligation $ 18.6 $ 60.4 $ 17.5 $ 51.4
Accumulated benefit obligation 18.6 58.8 17.5 50.4
Fair value of assets 12.8 45.8 12.3 39.5

Additional Information for Defined Benefit Plans (in millions):

FYE December 31, 2004 FYE December 31, 2003
United
States International

United
States International

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 18.6 $ 58.8 $ 17.5 $ 50.4
Change in minimum liability included 0.9 4.5 (0.6) (6.2)
in other comprehensive income

In 2005, the Company expects to contribute $1.0 million in the U.S. and $4.6 million internationally to its pension
plans and $0.6 million to its other postretirement benefit plans.
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In addition, the following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be
paid (in millions):

United States plan
International

plans
2005 $1.4  $ 4.3
2006 1.4 4.6
2007 1.4 4.4
2008 1.4 4.6
2009 1.4 4.7

subsequent five years 6.7 28.4   

37

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING HOLDINGS INC - Form 11-K

Table of Contents 61



Table of Contents

Defined Benefit Healthcare Plans

Fiscal Period January 1 to December 31 FYE 2004 FYE 2003
Disclosure Assumptions

For determining benefit obligations at year-end:
Discount rate 6.00% 6.25%
Salary increase 5.00% 5.00%
For determining net periodic cost for year:
Discount rate 6.25% 6.50%
Salary increase 5.00% 5.00%
Expected return on assets n/a n/a

Measurement date 9/30/2004 9/30/2003

Effect of 1% annual increase in health care cost trend rate:

Aggregate of the Service Cost and Interest Cost � Dollar change $ 0.040 $ 0.043
APBO � Dollar change $ 0.625 $ 0.729

Effect of 1% annual decrease in health care cost trend rate:

Aggregate of the Service Cost and Interest Cost � Dollar change $ (0.035) $ (0.036)
APBO � Dollar change $ (0.526) $ (0.622)

Cash Flows:
Employer contribution (expected during fiscal year beginning in 2005) $ 0.568

After Before
Estimated future benefit payments during fiscal year ending in: Medicare subsidy Medicare subsidy

2005 $                0.568 $                0.568
2006 $                0.526 $                0.552
2007 $                0.501 $                0.533
2008 $                0.503 $                0.541
2009 $                0.488 $                0.523

subsequent five years $                2.541 $                2.727

The assumed weighted-average annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered benefits is 10.5% for 2005 and
is assumed to decrease gradually to 5.0% for 2009 and remain at that level thereafter. The health care cost trend rate
assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported.
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7. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)

      The components of other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows (in millions):

Cumulative
Change in Currency
Minimum Translation Interest
Pension
Liability Adjustment

Rate
Contract Total

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ � $ (34.9) $ � $ (34.9)

Current period activity (19.7) 2.5 1.4 (15.8)
Tax effect 6.8 � (0.5) 6.3

Balance at December 31, 2002 (12.9) (32.4) 0.9 (44.4)

Current period activity (6.8) 4.6 (0.1) (2.3)
Tax effect 2.3 � � 2.3

Balance at December 31, 2003 (17.4) (27.8) 0.8 (44.4)

Current period activity 8.0 72.5 (0.1) 80.4
Tax effect (2.6) � � (2.6)

Balance at December 31, 2004 $ (12.0) $ 44.7 $ 0.7 $ 33.4

8. Commitments and Contingencies

We lease land, buildings, storage facilities, vehicles, data processing equipment and software under operating leases
expiring in various years through 2011. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
$22.4 million, $24.6 million and $21.2 million. Our minimum rental commitments for operating leases at
December 31, 2004 were as follows: 2005 � $21.3 million; 2006 � $16.9 million; 2007 � $13.4 million; 2008 �
$10.6 million; 2009 � $6.5 million and subsequent to 2009 � $7.7 million.

We are involved in various claims, regulatory agency audits and pending or threatened legal actions involving a
variety of matters. The total liability on these matters at December 31, 2004 cannot be determined; however, in our
opinion, any ultimate liability, to the extent not otherwise provided for, should not materially affect our financial
position, liquidity or results of operations.

Our business is affected both directly and indirectly by governmental laws and regulations relating to the oilfield
service industry in general, as well as by environmental and safety regulations that specifically apply to our business.
Although we have not incurred material costs in connection with our compliance with such laws, there can be no
assurance that other developments, such as stricter environmental laws, regulations and enforcement policies
thereunder could not result in additional, presently unquantifiable, costs or liabilities to us.
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9. Common Stock

National Oilwell has authorized 150 million shares of $.01 par value common stock. We also have authorized
10 million shares of $.01 par value preferred stock, none of which is issued or outstanding.

Under the terms of National Oilwell�s Stock Award and Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended, 8.4 million shares of
common stock are authorized for the grant of options to officers, key employees, non-employee directors and other
persons. Options granted under our stock option plan generally vest over a three-year period starting one year from the
date of grant and expire five or ten years from the date of grant. The purchase price of options granted may not be less
than the market price of National Oilwell common stock on the date of grant. At December 31, 2004, approximately
2.4 million shares were available for future grants.

We also have inactive stock option plans that were acquired in connection with the acquisitions of Dreco Energy
Services, Ltd. in 1997 and IRI International Corporation in 2000. We converted the outstanding stock options under
these plans to options to acquire our common stock and no further options are being issued under these plans. Stock
option information summarized below includes amounts for the National Oilwell Stock Award and Long-Term
Incentive Plan and stock plans of acquired companies.

Options outstanding at December 31, 2004 under the stock option plans have exercise prices between $5.62 and
$40.50 per share, and expire at various dates from January 19, 2005 to May 26, 2014.

The following summarizes options activity:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Average Average Average
Number

of Exercise
Number

of Exercise
Number

of Exercise
shares Price shares Price shares Price

Shares under option at
beginning of year 3,610,571 $ 23.83 3,790,496 $ 21.99 3,094,160 $ 22.95

Granted 1,142,500 28.22 1,035,000 20.05 977,500 18.53

Cancelled (96,570) 27.91 (304,659) 28.01 (133,465) 28.54

Exercised (924,185) 17.28 (910,266) 10.47 (147,699) 13.52

Shares under option at end of
year 3,732,316 $ 26.69 3,610,571 $ 23.83 3,790,496 $ 21.99

Exercisable at end of year 1,657,162 $ 29.66 1,713,647 $ 25.47 2,119,692 $ 18.71
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The following summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Avg.

Range of Remaining Weighted-Avg. Weighted-Avg.

Exercise Price Contractual Life Shares
Exercise
Price Shares

Exercise
Price

$5.62 to $19.39 6.96 658,016 $ 17.86 332,068 $ 17.21
$20.14 to $28.22 8.13 2,277,098 24.57 527,892 21.84
$30.30 to $40.50 6.03 797,202 40.03 797,202 40.03

Totals 7.48 3,732,316 $ 26.69 1,657,162 $ 29.66

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $13.19, $8.88, and
$8.95 per share, as determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model were:

Assumptions 2004 2003 2002
Risk-free interest rate 2.7% 2.6% 2.4%
Expected dividend � � �
Expected option life (years) 5 5 5
Expected volatility 51% 48% 54%

On February 7, 2005, we issued 1,145,000 stock options at an exercise price of $37.60.
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10. Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components of income before income taxes were as follows (in millions):

December
31,

December
31,

December
31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Domestic $ 51.5 $ 24.2 $ 39.1
Foreign 87.4 97.6 67.6

$ 138.9 $ 121.8 $ 106.7

      The components of the provision for income taxes consisted of (in millions):

December
31,

December
31,

December
31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Current:
Federal $ 9.8 $ 5.5 $ 10.7
State (3.3) 0.9 0.9
Foreign 21.8 22.6 15.7

28.3 29.0 27.3

Deferred:
Federal (12.8) 1.7 4.9
State 2.2 0.7 1.2
Foreign 3.9 4.5 5.4

(6.7) 6.9 11.5

$ 21.6 $ 35.9 $ 38.8

The difference between the effective tax rate reflected in the provision for income taxes and the U.S. federal statutory
rate was as follows (in millions):

December
31,

December
31,

December
31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Federal income tax at statutory rate $ 48.6 $ 42.6 $ 37.4
Foreign income tax rate differential (2.3) (7.9) (3.3)
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State income tax, net of federal benefit 1.0 0.6 0.6
Tax benefit of foreign sales income (3.1) (3.0) (1.6)
Nondeductible expenses 1.3 1.7 1.0
Tax benefit of capital loss carryovers � (0.8) �
Foreign dividends net of FTCs 3.2 (2.7) 1.2
Net operating loss carryforwards � (0.7) �
Change in deferred tax valuation allowance (20.1) 6.9 0.4
Prior year taxes (7.2) (0.8) 2.8
Other 0.2 � 0.3

$ 21.6 $ 35.9 $ 38.8
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in millions):

December 31, December 31,
2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:
Allowances and operating liabilities $ 19.6 $ 30.3
Net operating loss carryforwards 18.6 29.4
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 21.1 21.9
Capital loss carryforward 3.8 4.9
Other 24.3 18.2

Total deferred tax assets 87.4 104.7
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (16.8) (36.9)

70.6 67.8

Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation 29.6 30.0
Operating and other assets 58.7 10.6
Other 14.5 11.8

Total deferred tax liabilities 102.8 52.4

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (32.2) $ 15.4

In the United States, the Company has $14.4 million of net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2004,
which expire at various dates through 2018. The potential benefit of $5.2 million has been recorded with no valuation
allowance. Future income tax payments will be reduced when the Company ultimately realizes the benefit of these net
operating losses.

Also in the United States, the Company has $9.8 million of capital loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2004, which
expire in 2005. The related potential benefit of $3.8 million has been recorded with a full valuation allowance of
$3.8 million. These capital losses are not available to reduce future operating income but if realized will reduce future
capital gains and will result in a reduction of future tax expense. The Company has $21.1 million of excess foreign tax
credits as of December 31, 2004, which expire at various dates through 2014. These credits have not been allotted a
valuation allowance and would be realized as a reduction of future income tax payments.

Outside the United States, the company has $46.0 million of net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31,
2004. Of this amount, $45.2 million will expire at various dates through 2014 and $0.8 million is available
indefinitely. The related potential benefit available of $13.3 million has been recorded with a valuation allowance of
$12.0 million. If the Company ultimately realizes the benefit of these net operating losses, $11.0 million would reduce
goodwill and other intangible assets and $1.0 million would reduce income tax expense.

Also outside the United States, the company has $0.5 million of capital loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2004,
which can be carried forward indefinitely. The related potential benefit of $0.2 million has been recorded with a full
valuation allowance of $0.2 million. These capital losses are not available to reduce future operating income but if
realized will reduce future capital gains and will result in a reduction of future income tax expense.
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The deferred tax valuation allowance decreased $20.1 million for the period ending December 31, 2004 and increased
$6.9 million for the period ending December 31, 2003. The decrease was reflected as a reduction of tax expense in
2004 and resulted primarily from completion of certain acquisition financing transactions and the enactment of the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which extended the carryforward period of excess foreign tax credits in the
United States. The increase in 2003 resulted primarily from the recognition of additional excess foreign tax credits and
capital loss carryforwards that may not be realized in the future. National-Oilwell�s deferred tax assets are expected to
be realized principally through future earnings.
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Undistributed earnings of the Company�s foreign subsidiaries amounted to $299.9 million and $238.6 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003. Those earnings are considered to be permanently reinvested and no provision for U.S.
federal and state income taxes has been made. Distribution of these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise
could result in either U.S. federal taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes
payable in various foreign countries. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability
is not practical; however, unrecognized foreign tax credit carryforwards would be available to reduce some portion of
the U.S. liability. Withholding taxes of approximately $30.5 million would be payable upon remittance of all
previously unremitted earnings at December 31, 2004 . The Company has not reevaluated its position with respect to
the indefinite reinvestment of foreign earnings to take into account the possible election of the repatriation provisions
contained in the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004

Because of the number of tax jurisdictions in which the Company operates, its effective tax rate can fluctuate as
operations and the local country tax rates fluctuate. The Company is also subject to audits by federal, state and foreign
jurisdictions which may result in proposed assessments. The Company�s future tax provision will reflect any favorable
or unfavorable adjustments to its estimated tax liabilities when resolved. The Company is unable to predict the
outcome of these matters, however, we believe that none of these matters will have a material adverse effect on the
results of operations or financial condition of the Company.

In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the �Jobs Act�) was signed into law which introduced a
special one-time dividends received deduction on the repatriation of foreign earnings to a U.S. taxpayer (repatriation
provision), provided certain criteria are met. The Act provides for a special one-time deduction of 85 percent of
certain foreign earnings that are repatriated in either the Company�s last tax year that began before the enactment date,
or the first tax year that begins during the one-year period beginning on the date of enactment. The maximum amount
of the Company�s foreign earnings that qualify for temporary deduction is $286.4 million.

The Company is in the process of evaluating whether it will repatriate foreign earnings under the repatriation
provisions of the Jobs Act, and if so, the amount that will be repatriated. The range of reasonably possible amounts
that the Company is considering for repatriation, which would be eligible for the temporary deduction, is zero to
$286.4 million. The Company is awaiting the issuance of further regulatory guidance and passage of statutory
technical corrections with respect to certain provisions in the Jobs Act prior to determining the amounts it will
repatriate. The Company expects to determine the amounts and sources of foreign earnings to be repatriated, if any, in
2005.

The Company is not yet in a position to determine the impact of a qualifying repatriation, should it choose to make
one, on its income tax expense for 2005, the amount of its indefinitely reinvested foreign earnings, the range of
income tax effects or the amount of its deferred tax liability with respect to foreign earnings.
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11. Business Segments and Geographic Areas

National Oilwell�s operations consist of two segments: Products and Technology and Distribution Services. The
Products and Technology segment designs and manufactures a variety of oilfield equipment for use in oil and gas
drilling, completion and production activities. The Distribution Services segment distributes an extensive line of
oilfield supplies and equipment. Intersegment sales and transfers are accounted for at commercial prices and are
eliminated in consolidation. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies of the Company. The Company evaluates performance of each reportable
segment based upon its operating income, excluding non-recurring items.

No single customer accounted for 10% or more of consolidated revenues during the three years ended December 31,
2004.

Summarized financial information is as follows (in millions):

Geographic Areas:

United United
States Canada Norway Kingdom Other Eliminations Total

December 31,2004
Revenues from:
Unaffiliated customers $ 1,303.6 $ 403.1 $ 274.1 $ 99.7 $ 237.6 $ � $ 2,318.1
Interarea sales 231.5 86.0 45.1 13.5 17.2 (393.3) �

Total revenues 1,535.1 489.1 319.2 113.2 254.8 (393.3) 2,318.1
Long-lived assets 126.1 33.2 33.1 24.4 38.3 � 255.1

December 31,2003
Revenues from:
Unaffiliated customers $ 1,086.7 $ 332.9 $ 260.2 $ 95.9 $ 229.2 $ � $ 2,004.9
Interarea sales 138.5 55.6 41.1 5.4 5.5 (246.1) �

Total revenues 1,225.2 388.5 301.3 101.3 234.7 (246.1) 2,004.9
Long-lived assets 133.9 32.4 29.5 22.8 33.8 � 252.4

December 31,2002
Revenues from:
Unaffiliated customers $ 1,055.0 $ 254.3 $ 86.2 $ 44.7 $ 81.7 $ � $ 1,521.9
Interarea sales 108.1 59.4 18.5 7.4 1.2 (194.6) �

Total revenues 1,163.1 313.7 104.7 52.1 82.9 (194.6) 1,521.9
Long-lived assets 138.5 26.0 18.3 6.1 19.5 � 208.4
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Business Segments

Products
and Distribution Corporate/

Technology Services Eliminations Total
December 31, 2004 (Restated)
Revenues from:
Unaffiliated customers $ 1,424.5 $ 893.6 $ � $ 2,318.1
Intersegment sales 112.5 11.5 (124.0) �

Total revenues 1,537.0 905.1 (124.0) 2,318.1
Operating income (loss) 164.8 29.6 (18.4) 176.0
Capital expenditures 34.8 2.3 1.9 39.0
Depreciation and amortization 34.7 6.8 2.5 44.0
Goodwill 597.7 35.1 6.2 639.0
Total assets 2,049.9 386.5 140.1 2,576.5

December 31, 2003 (Restated)
Revenues from:
Unaffiliated customers $ 1,215.9 $ 789.0 $ � $ 2,004.9
Intersegment sales 98.7 3.0 (101.7) �

Total revenues 1,314.6 792.0 (101.7) 2,004.9
Operating income (loss) 170.2 6.5(a) (12.6) 164.1
Capital expenditures 25.5 3.8 3.1 32.4
Depreciation and amortization 30.1 5.8 3.3 39.2
Goodwill 546.6 35.8 4.9 587.3
Total assets 1,763.1 363.7 86.3 2,213.1

December 31, 2002 (Restated)
Revenues from:
Unaffiliated customers $ 837.7 $ 684.2 $ � $ 1,521.9
Intersegment sales 79.5 2.0 (81.5) �

Total revenues 917.2 686.2 (81.5) 1,521.9
Operating income (loss) 120.4 18.1 (10.8) 127.7
Capital expenditures 19.8 3.6 1.4 24.8
Depreciation and amortization 19.3 4.9 0.8 25.0
Goodwill 490.9 16.4 4.9 512.2
Total assets 1,605.5 266.7 70.3 1,942.5

(a)  Includes a $6.3 million pre-tax charge related to the accumulated clearing account problem within the
purchasing system.
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12. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

As discussed in Note 1, we have restated our financial statements and other financial information, including the
unaudited quarterly information presented below. Summarized quarterly results, were as follows (in millions, except
per share data):

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Total
Year ended December 31, 2004
(Restated)
Revenues $ 496.2 $ 533.5 $ 618.9 $ 669.5 $ 2,318.1

Gross Profit 104.4 119.5 133.0 146.9 503.8
Income before taxes 16.7 32.4 40.2 49.6 138.9
Minority interest (0.2) (0.3) (0.7) (0.9) (2.1)
Net income $ 11.6 $ 22.6 $ 28.4 $ 52.6 $ 115.2

Net income per basic share 0.14 0.26 0.33 0.61 1.34
Net income per diluted share 0.14 0.26 0.33 0.61 1.33

Year ended December 31, 2003
(Restated)
Revenues $ 500.6 $ 475.4 $ 498.6 $ 530.3 $ 2,004.9
Gross Profit 117.2 104.2 117.1 130.8 469.3
Income before taxes 28.2 25.6 31.1 36.9 121.8
Minority interest (2.0) (1.1) (1.0) (2.1) (6.2)
Net income $ 14.6 $ 19.8 $ 15.3 $ 30.0(a) $ 79.7

Net income per basic share 0.17 0.23 0.18 0.35 0.94
Net income per diluted share 0.17 0.23 0.18 0.35 0.94

      (a) Reflects an income tax benefit of $2.7 million related to a revision of the annual effective tax rate to 29%.
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Schedule II

National-Oilwell, Inc.

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Additions
(Deductions)

Balance
charged

to Charge Balance
beginning costs and offs and end of
of year expenses other year

(in millions)
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
2004 $ 18.3 $ 4.0 $ (9.5) $ 12.8
2003 12.6 5.7 0.0 18.3
2002 9.1 3.6 (0.1) 12.6

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets:
2004 $ 36.9 $ (20.3) $ 0.2 $ 16.8
2003 29.9 7.0 � 36.9
2002 29.5 0.4 � 29.9
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EXHIBIT INDEX

  2.1 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, effective as of August 11, between
National-Oilwell, Inc. and Varco International, Inc. (4).

  3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of National-Oilwell, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1) (1).

  3.2 By-laws of National-Oilwell, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2) (5).

10.1  Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2002 between Merrill A. Miller, Jr. and National Oilwell,
with a similar agreement with Steven W. Krablin (Exhibit 10.1) (2).

10.2  Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2002 between Dwight W. Rettig and National Oilwell, with
similar agreements with Robert L. Bloom, Howard E. Davis, Kevin A. Neveu, Mark A. Reese, Jeremy D.
Thigpen and Robert R. Workman (Exhibit 10.2) (2).

10.3  Employment Agreement dated as of June 28, 2000 between Gary W. Stratulate and IRI International, Inc.,
which has now merged into National Oilwell (Exhibit 10.3) (2).

10.4  Amended and Restated Stock Award and Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1) (3)*.

10.4.1  Form of Stock Option Agreement (Exhibit 10.1) (6)

10.5  Loan Agreement dated July 30, 2002 (Exhibit 10.2) (3).

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Company**.

23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

24.1  Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto)**.

31.1  Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

31.2  Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

32.1  Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2  Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Compensatory plan or arrangement for management or others

** Previously filed

(1) Filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 11, 2000.

(2) Filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2002.
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(3) Filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2002.

(4) Filed as Annex A to our Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on September 16, 2004.

(5) Filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 7, 2003.

(6) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2005.

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN AXLE & MANUFACTURING HOLDINGS INC - Form 11-K

Table of Contents 77


